
Homicides of Adults in Virginia, 1607-1633PRIVATE 

Class of death:   

Class of crime:   

Relationship:    

Motive:  


Intoxication?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:


Time of day:


Days until death:  


SUSPECT(s):


VICTIM(s):



Cause of death:  


Circumstances:   

Inquest:   


Indictment:  


Term of court:  


Court proceedings:  

Legal records:  
Newspapers:
Other sources:  
Census:  
Genealogy:  

Suspect:  



Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim:  



Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Works consulted, 1607-1623
*  Gabriel Archer, A relatyon of the Discovery of our River, from James Forte into the Maine: made by Captain Christopher Newport: and sincerely written and observed by a gent. of ye Colony [May-June 1607], in Philip L. Barbour, ed., The Jamestown Voyages under the First Charter, 1606-1609 (Cambridge, England: Hakluyt Society, 1969), 1: 80-98.

*  Philip L. Barbour, ed., The Complete Works of Captain John Smith, 3 v. (Chapel Hill:  Univ. of North Carolina Press, 1986).  F229 S6 1986.  [only the General History is truly useful, Books 3 & 4].


Ergo, used:  "The Genrall Historie of Virginia, New-England, and the Summer Isles" (1624) -- The Third Book & the Fourth Book, pp. 136-334.

Philip L. Barbour, ed., The Jamestown Voyages under the First Charter, 1606-1609 (Cambridge: The Hakluyt Society, 1969), 2 v. [Works Issued by the Hakluyt Society, 2nd ser., v. 136]

Susan Myra Kingsbury, The Records of the Virginia Company of London (Washington, D.C., 1906-1935), 4 v.


Not a court record, little on legal proceedings in the New World.
George Percy, "A Trewe Relacyon of the Procedinges and Ocurrentes of Momente wch have hapned in Virginia from the Tyme Sr Thomas Gates was shippwrackte uppon the Bermudes ano 1609 untill my departure outt of the Country wch was in ano Dñi 1612," Tyler's Quarterly Historical and Genealogical Magazine, 3 (1922), 259-82.

John Smith, "A Map of Virginia" (1612), Philip L. Barbour, ed., The Jamestown Voyages under the First Charter, 1606-1609 (Cambridge, England: Hakluyt Society, 1969), 2: 375-464.

* John Smith, A True Relation of Such Occurences and Accidents of Noateas Hath Hapned in Virginia since the First Planting of That Colony (London: John Tappe, 1608), Philip L. Barbour, ed., The Jamestown Voyages under the First Charter, 1606-1609 (Cambridge: Hakluyt Society, 1969), 1: 165-208.

William Strachey, The Historie of ravaile into Virginia Britannia, ed. R. H. Major (Hakluyt Society), 1st ser., 6 (1849), or ed. Louis B. Wright and Virginia Freund (Hakluyt Society), 2nd ser., 103 (1953).

* Lyon Gardiner Tyler, Narratives of Early Virginia, 1606-1625 (New York:  Barnes and Noble, 1946; reprint of 1907 ed.).  F229 T92 1907a.  [nothing of use on homicides, etc.]

* Edward Maria Wingfield, Discourse (1608), in Philip L. Barbour, ed., The Jamestown Voyages under the First Charter, 1606-1609 (Cambridge: The Hakluyt Society, 1969), 1: 213-34.  

Sources, 1623-1633


COMPLETE:  Feb. 1623 to Dec. 1633.  Counted as a full record of 11 years of cases.

Dates:  Feb. 4, 1623 to Feb. 9, 1633 [complete only through May 10, 1629].  Supplemented by Conway Robinson's notes from July 9, 1630-Dec. 10, 1633].

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Minutes of the Council and General Court of Colonial Virginia, 1622-1632, 1670-1676, with Notes and Excerpts from Original Council and General Court Records, into 1683, Now Lost (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1924).  [Including Selections from Conway Robinson's Notes and Excerpts from the Records of Colonial Virginia.  Roll No. 10:  7/9/1630-12/10/1633.  (pp. 479-480)]

Homicides of English colonists by English colonists
Counted as indictments

1609 DOM WIFE

1619 NONDOM

Not counted as indictments

1622 NONDOM / MANSL -- Eng. by Eng.

Not counted as homicides

1607 EXECUTION
16__ NONDOM / MANSL FETUS

Homicides -- counted as indictments

1624  HHLD SERVANT by MASTER:   1 male & 1 female adult

1629  NONDOM QUARREL by CHILD:  1 male adult 

1629  NONDOM QUARREL:           1 male adult

1629  DOM NEO

1630  HHLD MASTER by SERVANT

1632  DOM NEO

1633  DOM NEO

Possible Homicides -- not counted

1624  NONDOM HONOR DUEL

Homicides not counted 

1627  NONDOM FETUS

1627  NONDOM at sea

1629  pardon for unknown murderer

[1607]





Rapphannock

HIST

Crime:   possible HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  an English ship captain m. a Rappahannock chief

Weapon:  


Circumstances:  During his captivity, JS was suspected of having been an English ship captain who had murdered a Rappahannock chief one or two years earlier.  He was taken to the Rappahannocks, who declared the JS was not the murderer.  The murderer had been a large man, & JS was small.


Inquest:  


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  

Source:  

John Smith, "The Genrall Historie of Virginia, New-England, and the Summer Isles" (1624), the Third Book & the Fourth Book, in Philip L. Barbour, ed., The Complete Works of Captain John Smith, (Chapel Hill:  Univ. of North Carolina Press, 1986), 2: 149-50.


John Smith, A True Relation of Such Occurences and Accidents of Noateas Hath Hapned in Virginia since the First Planting of That Colony (London: John Tappe, 1608), Philip L. Barbour, ed., The Jamestown Voyages under the First Charter, 1606-1609 (Cambridge: Hakluyt Society, 1969), 1: 184.

During JS's captivity in Dec. 1607 to Jan. 1608, the King of the Kekataugh, "having received some kindnes of me at the Fort, kindly invited me to feast at his house. . . .  From hence this kind King conducted mee to a place called Topahanocke [Rappahannock], a kingdome upon another River northward:  the cause of this was, that the yeare before, a shippe had been in the River of Pamaunke, who having beene kindly entertained by Powhatan their Emperour, they returned thence, and discovered the River of Topahonocke, where being received with like kindnesse, yet he slue the King,a nd tooke of his people, and they supposed I were hee, but the people reported him a great man that was Captaine, and using mee kindly, the next day we departed."

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

ship's captain

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

___

Ethnicity:

Rappahanock

Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

chief

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1607, Nov. or Dec.




Jamestown

HIST


DATE:  after 11/23 & before 12/10

NOTE:  Smith’s account is evasive and he says merely that “the action cost the life” of GK, not that he was executed.  But other records and historians indicate it was an execution for treason, not a homicide.

Class of death:   do not count / not a political homicide
Crime:   EXECUTION:  1 adult

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  POLITICAL/ SUPPRESSION of MUTINY
Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


HOM:  John Smith and his supporters executed Captain George Kendall


Weapon:  James Read, the blacksmith, was to have been hanged.  GK was shot.  

Circumstances:  while the colonists, in desperate straights, were waiting for the first supply from England, JS and his supporters believed they had spoiled a plot to capture the pinnace and sail it back to England.  // Suppression of a mutiny led by George Kendall and Edward Maria Wingfield, who seized the company’s pinnace, intending to sail it back to England.  Smith and his supporters retook the pinnace with musket shot and a small cannon (a Sakre falcon).

Inquest:  


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  condemned by the Council
Legal records:  
Newspapers:
Other sources:  
Philip L. Barbour, ed., The Complete Works of Captain John Smith, 3 v. (Chapel Hill:  Univ. of North Carolina Press, 1986).  v. 2: 143, 145

Members of the Council on June 15, 1607, when the ships returned to England


Master Edward Maria Wingfield, President of the Council (soon deposed)


Captain Bartholonew Gosnoll (soon died)


Captain John Smith



Captain John Ratliffe (replaced EMW as President)


Captain John Martin


Captain George Kendall (soon deposed)

Gentlemen



Captain Gabriell Archer
143:  Many of the colonists died between May and September, 1607.  By September, 1607, BG was dead, EMW and GK had been deposed, and JR had replaced EMW as president.  “the rest seeing the Presidents projects to escape these miseries in our Pinnace by flight (who all this time had neither felt want nor sicknes) so moved our dead spirits, as we deposed him; and established Ratcliffe in his place, (Gosnoll being dead) Kndall deposed, Smith newly recovered, Martin and Ratcliffe was by his cafre preserved and relieved, and the most of the souldiers recovered.”  But all their provisions were spent.

145:  probably the fall of 1607:  “Smith perceiving (notwithstanding their late miserie) not any regarded but from hand to mouth (the company being well recovered) caused the Pinnace to be provided with things fitting to get provision for the yeare following; but in the interim he made 3. or 4. journies and discovered the people of Chickahamania:  yet what he carefully provided the rest carelessly spend.  Wingfield and Kendall living in disgrace, seeing all things at randome in the absence of Smith, the companies dislike of their Presidents weaknes, and their small love to Martins never mending sicknes, strengthened themselves with the sailers, and other confederates to regaine their former credit and authority, or at least such meanes abord the Pinnace, (being fitted to saile as Smith had appointed for trade) to alter her course and to goe for England.  Smith unexpectedly returning had the plot discovered to him, much trouble he had to prevent it, till with store of sakre and musket shot he forced them stay or sinke in the river, which action cost the life of captaine Kendall.  These brawles are so disgustfull, as some will say they were better forgotten, yet all men of good judgement will conclude, it were better their baseness should be manifest to the world, then the business beare the scorne and shame of their excused disorders.  The President and captaine Archer not long after intended also to have abandoned the country, which project also was curbed, and suppressed by Smith.”

John Smith, "The Genrall Historie of Virginia, New-England, and the Summer Isles" (1624), the Third Book & the Fourth Book, in Philip L. Barbour, ed., The Complete Works of Captain John Smith, (Chapel Hill:  Univ. of North Carolina Press, 1986), 2:  145.


Smith equipped the pinnace "to get provision for the yeare following" from the Indians, but in the interrum made 3 or 4 journeys to discover the Chichahamania, "yet what he carefully provided the rest carelesly spent.  Wingfield and Kendall living in disgrace, seeing all things at randome in the absence of Smith, the companies dislike of their Presidents weaknes, and their small love to Martins never mending sicknes, strengthened themselves with the sailers, and other confederates to regaine their Pinnace, (being fitted to saile as Smith had appointed for trade) to alter her course and to goe to England.  Smith unexpectedly returning had the plot discovered to him, much trouble he had to prevent it, till with store of sakre and musket shot he forced them stay or sinke in the river, which actoin cost the life of captine Kendall.  These brawles are so disgustfull, as some will say they were better forgotten, yet all men of good judgement will ocnclude, it were better their basenes should be manifest to the world, then the busines beare the scorne and shame of their excused disorders."


Philip L. Barbour, "Captain George Kendall -- Mutineer or Intelligencer?" VMHB, 70 (1962), 297-313.  Had been one of the seven men originally appointed to council.  May have been an informer concering the expedition for Lord Salisbury.


Philip L. Barbour, ed., The Jamestown Voyages under the First Charter, 1606-1609 (Cambridge: The Hakluyt Society, 1969), 1: 156.  from "Francis Magnel's Relation of the First Voyage and the Beginnings of the Jamestown Colony," 151-7.  An Irishman, colonist, and informant for the Spanish.  Tells them that GK, a Catholic, was executed at Jamestown.  ". . . such is the jealousy they have that the secrets of this land be not known that they have issued an order that no one can take letters out of the land, or send any,e specially to private persons, unless they are first seen and read by the Governor.  And for this same reason they have executed in that James-fort of theirs a Catholic English Captain called Captain Tindol [Kendall], because they knew that he wanted to come to Spain to reveal to HIs Majesty what goes on in that land, and the many pretensions of the English which he knew, but which the Relator does not know."  


John Smith, A True Relation of Such Occurences and Accidents of Noateas Hath Hapned in Virginia since the First Planting of That Colony (London: John Tappe, 1608), Philip L. Barbour, ed., The Jamestown Voyages under the First Charter, 1606-1609 (Cambridge, England: Hakluyt Society, 1969), 1: 178.



JS had just returned with a supply of corn, but "notwithstanding some bad spirrits not content with Gods providence, still grew mutinous, in so much, that our president having ocasion to chide the smith for his misdeameanor [misconduct], he not only gave him bad language, but also offred to strike him with some of this tooles, for which rebellious act, the smith was by a Jury condemned to be hanged, but being uppon the ladder continuing verry obstinate, as hoping upon a rescue: when he saw no other way but death with him, he became penitent, & declared a dangerous conspiracy, for hwich Captaine Kendall as principal, was by a Jury condemned & shot to death."


Edward Maria Wingfield, Discourse (1608), in Philip L. Barbour, ed., The Jamestown Voyages under the First Charter, 1606-1609 (Cambridge: The Hakluyt Society, 1969), 1: 224-5.



"The President did beat James Read the Smyth, the Smyth stroake him againe [back], for this he was condempned to be hanged, but before he was turned of[f] the Lather he desired to speake with the President in private, to whome he accused Master Kendall of a mutiny, and so escaped himself:  What Indictment master Recorder framed, against the Smyth I knowe not, but I knoew it is familiar for the President, Counsellors, and other officers to beate men at their pleasures, one lyeth sick till death, an other walketh lame, the third cryeth out of all his boanes, which myseryes they doe take upon the Consciences to Come to them by this their Almes of beating.  Wear this whipping, lawing, beating, and hanging in Virginia knowne in England I feare it would drive many well affected mynds from this honorable action of Virginia. . . .




Master Kendall was executed being shott to death for a mutiny.  In th'arrest of his Judgment he alleaged to Master President yt his name was Sicklemore, not Ratcliff:  & so had no authority to pronounce Judgment, then Master Martyn pronounced Judgment."

Census:  
Genealogy:  

Suspect:  

John Smith and his supporters
Ethnicity:

English
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:

colonists / soldiers
Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:

Smith:  a member of the Council
Personal history:  


Victim:  

Captain George Kendall
Ethnicity:

English
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:

gentleman
Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:

Catholic
Organizations:

original member of the Virginia council
Personal history:  


[1610]






HIST


DATE:   after Oct. 4, 1609 & before May 10, 1610


CHECK:  the Council notes

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM:  1 adult female

Rela:    MARITAL WIFE by HUSBAND

Motive:  ABUSE

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  unk. Englishman m. unk. English woman


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  murder


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  fG murder.  DEATH.  Executed.  ["burned"]

Source:  

John Smith, "The Genrall Historie of Virginia, New-England, and the Summer Isles" (1624), the Third Book & the Fourth Book, in Philip L. Barbour, ed., The Complete Works of Captain John Smith, (Chapel Hill:  Univ. of North Carolina Press, 1986), 2:  232-3.


1609:  Smith had been carried back to England to face charges.  "Now we all found the losse of Captaine Smith, yea his greatest maligners could now curse his losse:  as for corne, provision and contribution from the Salvages, we had nothing but mortall wounds, with clubs and arrowes; as for our Hogs, Hens, Goats, Sheepe, Horse, or what lived, our commanders, officers and Salvages daily consumed them, some small proportions sometimes we tasted, till all was devoured; then swords, armes, pieces, or any thing, wee traded with the Salvages, whose cruell fingers were so oft imbrewed in our blouds, that what by their crueltie, our Governours indiscretion, and the losse of our ships, of five hundred within six moneths after Captaine Smiths departure, there remained not past sixtie men, women and children, most miserable and poore creatures; and those were preserved for the most part, by roots, herbes, acornes, walnuts, berries, now and then a little fish:  they that had startch ["for their ruffs"] in these extremities, made no small use of it ["made a gluey porridge of it"]; yea, even the very skinnes of our horses.  Nay, so great was our famine, that a Salvage we slew, and buried, the poorer sort tooke him up againe and eat him, and so did divers (sic) one another boyled and stewed with roots and and herbs:  And one amongst the rest did kill his wife, powdered [salted] her, and had eaten part of her before it was knowne, for which hee was executed, as hee well deserved; now whether shee was better roasted, boyled or carbonado'd [grilled over coals], I know not, but of such a dish as powdered wife I never heard of.  This was that time, which still to this day we called the starving time; it were too vile to say, and scarce to be beleeve, what we endured:  but the occasion was our owne, for want of providence, industrie and government, ando not the barrennesse and defect of the Countrie, as is generally supposed."


George Percy, "A Trewe Relacyon of the Procedinges and Ocurrentes of Momente wch have hapned in Virginia from the Tyme Sr Thomas Gates was shippwrackte uppon the Bermudes ano 1609 untill my departure outt of the Country wch was in ano Dñi 1612," Tyler's Quarterly Historical and Genealogical Magazine, 3 (1922), 266-7.  


"A True Declaration of the estate of the Colonie in Virginia, with a confutation of such scandalous reports as have tended to the disgrace of so worthy an enterprise.  Published by advise and idrection of the Councell of Virginia." (London:  William Barret, 1610), in Peter Force, Tracts and Other Papers Relating Principally to the . . . Colonies in North America (4 v., Washington, D.C., 1836-46; reprinted Cambridge, Mass.:  Murray Printing Co., 1947), v. 3, Tract 1 (pp. 3-27), p. 16:  


"to cleare all doubts, Sir Thomas Gates thus relateth the tragedie.


There was one of the companie who martoally hated his wife, and therefore secretly killed her, then cut her in pieces and hid her in divers parts of his house:  when the woman was missing, the man suspected, his house searched, and parts of her mangled body were discovered, to excuse himselfe he said that his wife died, that he hid her to satisfie his hunger, and that he fed daily upon her.  Upon this, his house was againe searched, where they found a good quantitie of meale, oatemeale, beanes and pease.  Hee thereupon was arraigned, confessed the murder, and was burned for his horrible villany."


Now shall the scandalous reports of a viperous generation, preponderate the testimonies of so worthie leaders?  shall their venemous tongues, blast the reputation of an auncient & worthy Peere, who upon the ocular certainty of future belessings, hath protested in his Letters, that he will sacrifice himselfe for his Countrie in this service, if he may be seconded . . . ?"


Eggleston, Beginners, 65, quotes Percy as having tortured the man to confess.  Percy makes hunger the motive.


Arthur P. Scott, Criminal Law in Colonial Virginia (Chicago:  Univ. of Chicago Press, 1930), 6n10.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m

Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

___

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

m

Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



[1610]






HIST


DATE:   after Oct. 4, 1609 & before May 10, 1610

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  English colonists m. an Indian


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  

Source:  

John Smith, "The Genrall Historie of Virginia, New-England, and the Summer Isles" (1624), the Third Book & the Fourth Book, in Philip L. Barbour, ed., The Complete Works of Captain John Smith, (Chapel Hill:  Univ. of North Carolina Press, 1986), 2:  232-3.


1609:   so great was our famine, that a Salvage we slew, and buried, the poorer sort tooke him up againe and eat him, and so did divers (sic) one another boyled and stewed with roots and and herbs."

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m

Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


Ind

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:
m

Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1610, summer [July]

HIST


DATE:  after May 10, 1610







Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM:  5 adults

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  POLITICAL / for treason, running away, and/or mutiny

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  [0]


HOM:  Powhatan Indians [at the instigation of the English colonists] m. Summer Cole, ___ Kitchins, and three other colonists


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  "And even this Summer Cole and Kitchins plot with three more, bending their course to Ocanahowan, five daies journey from us, where they report are Spaniards inhabiting.  These were cut off by the Salvages, hired by us to hunt them home to receive their deserts."


Inquest:  


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  

Source:  

Philip L. Barbour, ed., The Complete Works of Captain John Smith, (Chapel Hill:  Univ. of North Carolina Press, 1986), 2: 204.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:

Powhatan

Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

___

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1609-1610
[1610]







HIST


DATE:  after Oct. 4, 1609 & before May 10, 1610


NOTE:  may be the same incident as above; do not count separately

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM:  at least 3 adults

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  POLITICAL

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


HOM:  Powhatan Indians m. several English colonists


Weapon:  unknown


Circumstances:  Starving time.  during the Starving Time, 1609-10, several parties of colonists tried to join the Powhatans or to steal food.  One party found "slain, with their mouths stopped full of bread, being done, as it seems, in contempt and scorn, that others might expect the like when they should come to seek for bread and relief amongst them."


Inquest:  


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  

Source:  

Percy, 265 (c. 1610-11):  Some tried to flee to the Indians, "but they were served according to their deserts, for not any of them were heard of after."  One party was found "slain, with their mouths stopped full of bread, being done, as it seems, in contempt and scorn, that others might expect the like when they should come to seek for bread and relief amongst them."


George Percy, "A Trewe Relacyon of the Procedinges and Ocurrentes of Momente wch have hapned in Virginia from the Tyme Sr Thomas Gates was shippwrackte uppon the Bermudes ano 1609 untill my departure outt of the Country wch was in ano Dñi 1612," Tyler's Quarterly Historical and Genealogical Magazine, 3 (1922), 259-82.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:

Powhatan

Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

___

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



[1616] / 1617 / 1617



lst & 2nd:  Chickahamania / 3nd:  near James City

HIST


NOTE:  three separate incidents

Class:   probable
Crime:   HOM of INDIANS by COLONISTS / HOM of COLONISTS by INDIANS

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  ROBBERY / REVENGE

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


HOM:  Captain George Yearley and his men m. 12 Chickahominies

HOM:  unk. Indians m. Richard Killingbeck and four other English men

HOM:  unk. Indians m. three children of William Fairfax, and two other English children


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  

Source:  
John Smith, "The Genrall Historie of Virginia, New-England, and the Summer Isles" (1624), the Third Book & the Fourth Book, in Philip L. Barbour, ed., The Complete Works of Captain John Smith, (Chapel Hill:  Univ. of North Carolina Press, 1986), 2:  264-5.


"Richard Killingbeck [of the first supply] being with the Captaine at Kekoughtan, desired leave to returne to his wife at Charles hundred, hee went to James towne by water, there he got foure more to goe with him by land, but it proved that he intended to goe trade with the Indians of Chickahamania, where making shew of the great quantitie of trucke, partly for their trucke, partly for revenge of some friends they pretended should have beene slaine by Captaine Yearley, one of them with an English peece shot Killingbeck dead, the other Salvages assaulted the rest and slew them, stripped them, and tooke what they had:  But fearing this murther would come to light, and might cause them to suffer for it, would not proceed to the perfecton of villanie; for presently they robbed their Machacomocko [great house, or temple] house of the towne, stole all the Indian treasure thereout, and fled into the woods, as other Indians related.  On Sunday following, one Farfax [probably William Fairfax, yeoman, of James City, who with his wife got a patent for 200 acres on 2/20/1619] that dwelt a mile from the towne, going to Church, left his wife and three small children safe at home, as he thought, and a young youth:  she supposing paier to be done, left thje children, and went to meet her husband; presently after came three or foure of those fugitive Salvages, entred the house, and slew a boy and three children, and also another youth that stole out of the Church in paier time, meeting them, was likewise murdered.  Of this disaster the Captaine sent to Opechankanough for satisfaction, but he excused the matter, as altogether ignorant of it, at the same time the Salvages that were robbed were complaining to Opechankanough, and much feared the English would bee revenged on them, so that Opechankanough sent to Captaine Argall, to assure him the peace should never be broken by him, desiring that he would not revenge the injurie of those fugitives upon the innocent people of that towne, which towne he should have, and sent him a basket of earth, as possession given of it, and promised, so soone as possibly they could catch these robbers, to send him their heads for satisfaction, but he never performed it."


2: 256-7:  THE PROBABLE CAUSE OF DESIRE FOR REVENGE / SATISFACTION of PRIOR HOMICIDES:  Captain George Yearley was appointed Deputy Governor by Sir Thomas Dale in 1616.  Because the colonists ran short of corn, Yearley demanded that the Chickahamanias pay the colonists tribute in corn, but the Chickahamanias refused.  Yearley gathered a party of 100 armed men & marched against the Chickahamanias, but failed to intimidate them -- so he fired into their midst, killing 12 men, & seized 12 hostages & demanded payment in corn for their return.  [ERGO:  robbery as well as revenge were the probable motives.]

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:

Chickahamania

Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Richard Killingbeck

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adults

Literate:




Marital Status:

m

Children:




Occupation:

trader, yeoman

Town:


Charles Hundred

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:

militia member

1619






HIST

GOVT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM:  1 adult male

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  quarrel

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  2


HOM:  Capt. William Epps m. Captain Edward Stallings [aka Rowcroft]


Weapon:  blow to head with a sword in a scabbard.  d. 2 days later.


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  murder


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  fG manslaughter by chance medley.  Unknown penalty.

Source:  

John Smith, "The Genrall Historie of Virginia, New-England, and the Summer Isles" (1624), the Third Book & the Fourth Book, in Philip L. Barbour, ed., The Complete Works of Captain John Smith, (Chapel Hill:  Univ. of North Carolina Press, 1986), 2:  266.


"In December [1618] one Captaine Stallings, an old planter in those parts, being imployd by them of the West countrie for a fishing voyage, in New-England, fell foule of a Frenchman whom hee tooke, leaving his owne shipo to returne for England, himselfe with a small companie remained in the French barke, some small time after upon the coast, and thence returned to winter in Virginia. . . ."


On 4/18/1619, "such an accident hapned Captaine Stallings, . . . his ship was cast away, and he not long after slaine in a private quarrell."


Susan Myra Kingsbury, The Records of the Virginia Company of London (Washington, D.C., 1906-1935, 4 v.), 3:  242.  Letter from John Rolfe Sir Edwin Sandys, Jan. 1620:  The murder must have happened soon after Sir George Yearly's arrival on April 18, although Capt. Epps was not arraigned until 7/30/1619.  Captain Christopher Lawne was the foreman of the jury that tried Epps.


Capt. William Epps, who commands the Smythes Hundred Company, was arraigned at James City "(as neere as might be) according to the lawdable Lawes of England, for killing one Captaine Edward Roecroft als Stallenge.  He came hether from the North Colony in a shipp of Sr Ferdinando Gorges (as he sayd) for some necessaries wch he wanted; and to coast along the shoare to fynd and discover what Harbors and rivers he could:  but through neglect of the Mr of the shipp and others she was forced a ground in a storme neere Newports Newes, and there sprang so greate a leake, that he could not carry her back againe.  This myschance happened through uncivill and unmanly wordes urged by Stallenge (there being no precedent malice) wth ch Captaine Epps being much moved did strike him on the heade wth a sword in the skabberd such an unfortunate blowe, that wthin 2. daies he died.  The Jury (whereof Capt Lawne was foreman a discreete and understanding man) hearing the Evidence, found him guilty of Manslaughter by Chaunce meddley.  The Governor fynding him (though young) a proper civill gent, and of good hopes, not long after restored him to his Command."

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:  
Accused 1:  

Capt. William Epps

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

[planter]

Town:


Smythes Hundred

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:

commander of Smythes Hundred Company

Victim 1:  

Captain Edward Stallings [aka Rowcroft]

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

ship's captain

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1621, Oct.




on way to Pamunkey

HIST


NOTE:  Beverley put the date as less than 2 weeks before the coup of 3/22/1622, but Rountree puts it before Nov. 1621.

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM of COLONIST by INDIANS [see later revenge murder of INDIAN by COLONISTS]
Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  ROBBERY

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Nemattanow m. ___ Morgan


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  N (a great war chief) went to the private settlement of M & asked him to go to Pamunkey to trade goods that he had that N wanted.  Morgan never heard from again.  N returned in a few days to Morgan's settlement, where he met two young servants (boys) who recognized that N was wearing M's cap.  N told the boys that M was dead.  The boys tried to take N to the authorities, "But he refused to go, and very insolently abused them.  Whereupon they shot him down, and as they were carrying him to the governor [Sir Francis Wyatt], he died."  N asked that the English not tell how he was killed & asked to be buried among the English.


Inquest:  


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  
Source:  

Philip L. Barbour, ed., The Complete Works of Captain John Smith, (Chapel Hill:  Univ. of North Carolina Press, 1986), 2: 293.



On the events leading to the massacre of March 1622:  "The Prologue to this Tragedy, is supposed was occasioned by Nemattanow, otherwise called Jack of the Feather, because hee commonly was most strangely adorned with them; and for his courage and policy, was accounted amongst the Salvages their chiefe Captaine, and immortall from any hurt could bee done him by the English.  This Captaine comming to one Morgans house, Morgan to goe with him to Pamaunke to trucke, but the Salvage murdered him by the way; and after two or three daies returned againe to Morgans house, where he found two youths his Servants, who asked for their Master:  Jack replied directly he was dead; the Boyes suspecting as it was, by seeing him weare his Cap, would have had him to Master Thorp [George Thorp, gentleman]:  But Jack so moved thier patience, they shot him, so he fell to the ground, put him in a Boat to have him before the Governor, then seven or eight miles from them.  But by the way Jack finding the pangs of death upon him, desired of the boyes two things; the one was, that they would not make it knowne hee was slaine with a bullet; the other, to bury him amongst the English.  At the losse of this Salvage Opechankanough much grieved and repined, with great threats of revenge; but the English returned him such terrible answers, that he cunningly dissembled his intent, with the greatest signes he could of love and peace, yet within foureteene daies after he acted what followeth."


Robert Beverley, The History and Present State of Virginia [1705], ed. Louis B. Wright (Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press, 1947), 53.


Rountree (1990: 71-2)

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:  

Accused 1:  

Nemattanew

Ethnicity:

Powhatan

Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

war chief

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

___ Morgan

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

[prob. a planter w/ at least 2 young male servants]

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1621, Oct.






HIST


NOTE:  Beverley put the date as less than 2 weeks before the coup of 3/22/1622, but Rountree puts it before Nov. 1621.

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM of INDIAN by COLONISTS

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  REVENGE / RETRIBUTION for murder of Morgan

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  English colonists m. Nemattanew


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  N (a great war chief) went to the private settlement of M & asked him to go to Pamunkey to trade goods that he had that N wanted.  Morgan never heard from again.  N returned in a few days to Morgan's settlement, where he met two young servants (boys) who recognized that N was wearing M's cap.  N told the boys that M was dead.  The boys tried to take N to the authorities, "But he refused to go, and very insolently abused them.  Whereupon they shot him down, and as they were carrying him to the governor [Sir Francis Wyatt], he died."  N asked that the English not tell how he was killed & asked to be buried among the English.


Inquest:  


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  
Source:  

Robert Beverley, The History and Present State of Virginia [1705], ed. Louis B. Wright (Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press, 1947), 53.


Susan M. Kingsbury, ed., The Records of the Virginia Company of London (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1935), 4: 10-11.


Rountree 1990: 71-2.


Gleach 1997: 148-9, 210n1.


Rountree (1990: 71-2)

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:  

Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Nemattanew

Ethnicity:

Powhatan

Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

war chief

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1622, fall [Nov.]




near Kecoughtan

HIST


NOTE:  date may be winter 1622/3

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM MANSL:  1 adult male

Rela:    NONDOM by SENTRY

Motive:  MISTAKE:  MISTOOK VICTIM for an Indian

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  unk. English man m. Samuel Collyer


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  

Source:  
John Smith, "The Generall Historie of Virginia, New-England, and the Summer Isles" (1624), the Third Book & the Fourth Book, in Philip L. Barbour, ed., The Complete Works of Captain John Smith, (Chapel Hill:  Univ. of North Carolina Press, 1986), 2:  315.  Also 2: 193, 193n4.


After the massacre of March, 1622.  During a punative expedition to Nandsamund, "where the people set fire on their owne houses, and spoiled what they could, and then fled with what they could carry; so that the English did make no slaughter amongst them for revenge.  Their Corne fields being newly gathered," the English troops (300 men under Sir George Yeardley) "surprized all they found, burnt the houses remained unburnt, and sso departed.  Quartering about Kecoughtan, after the Watch was set, Samuell Collyer one of the most ancientest Planters, and very well acquainted with their language and habitation, humors and coinditions, and Governor of a Towne, when the Watch was set going the round, unfortunately by a Centinell that discharged his peece, was slaine."

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Samuel Collyer

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

planter; formerly had been John Smith's page & had learn the Powhatans' language

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1624, [April]




James Island

HIST


NOTE:  have yet to locate the primary source on which Brown relies.  Do not count as a homicide, since the death was probably from natural causes.

Class:   uncertain examination

Crime:   poss. HOM / prob. NAT:  1 adult male

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  DUEL

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  14


HOM:  Capt. Richard Stephens m. Lt. George Harrison


Weapon:  [sword].  [May have died from the disease from which he was already suffering or from an infection of the wound in his leg, but not from the cut alone.]


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  
Source:  

Alexander Brown, The First Republic in America (Boston: Houghton Mifflin, 1898), 582.  On events in Virginia, Sept. 1623 - May 1624, under the Sandys-Southampton Administrations


When the shipment of goods from John Harrison arrived at Jamestown, GH was sick at his plantation at Martin's Hundred, "yet at length he recovered some strength and coming from his plantation to James cittie [to see about his goods], there was some words of discontent past between him and Mr. Richard Stephens [merchant], with some blows.  8 or 10 days after Mr Harrison sent a challenge to Stephens to meet him in a place, which was made mention of, and there, they meeting to-gether it so fell out that Mr Harrison received a cut in the leg which did somewhat grieve him and 14 days after he departed this life.  Being hurt in the field there was a crowners quest went upon him.  The Doctor and Chirgions did open his bodie upon the Juries request and they found it very fowle.  They did affirm that he could not have lived long and that he dyed not of the hurt which he had received.  For it was but a small cut between the garter and his knee."  By his will he made Mr. George Menefie his "overseer," and his brother, John Harrison, his executor.  [NOTE:  Brown is not clear about the primary source here.]


Lt. George Harrison received a patent for 200 acreas from Sir George Yeardley on 3/6/1621 on eastern side of Chippokes Creek, Surry Co.  "Lt. Harrison became involved in a dispute with Captain Richard Stephens, Burgess from James City, 1623, and later a prominent member of the Council.  This resulted in a duel which took place on James Island.  George Harrison received a wound near the knee and died two weeks later.  The verdict of the Coroner's jury, however, was that at the time of the duel Lieutenant Harrison was suffering from a fatal illness which had caused his death."  [Arthur Scott]

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Susan Myra Kingsbury, The Records of the Virginia Company of London (U.S.:  GPO, 1933), 3:  432-4.  Grant of land by Sir George Yeardley (Knight & Governor & Captain-General of Virginia) to George Harrison of Charles City ("a newe planter (who hath aboade here three yeares, and hath defrayed the Chardge of his owne passage att his Coming hither)" on 3/6/1621.  For his first general dividend, to be augmented and doubled by the company when he or his heirs "have sufficiently planted and peopled" 200 acres of land situated on the opposite side of the river "over against the nowe Mansion house of mee the said Sr George Yeardley in Southampton hundred," bordering west on a creek or lesser river, running into the great river.  50 of the acres are granted "in his owsne personal right" & the other 150 for having transported at his own charge three servants (Jeremy Whiniard, James Taylor, & Wm Broomeman).  

1:  143.  Land to Richard Stephens.  [flaw in index:  cannot find]

1:  146.  George Harrison assigned land by Sir George Yeardley, 3/6/1621.  

1:  164.  Letter from G.H. to his brother, John Harrison, 1/24/1623.  Accounts with Mr. Bennett.  

4:  222:  Robert Bennett to his brother Edward Bennett, 6/9/1623:  says that Thomas Pope and Mr. Daniel have gone to live with George Harrison "untill the crop be in." 

4:  555:  George Harrison -- in 5/1625, 200 ac. laid out to him on the east side of Chapoks Creek.

4:  278-283:  invoice of goods, 9/16/1623, sent to George Harrison in Virginia via the Marmaduke (John Dennis, master) by his brother, John Harrison:  clothing, food, tools, 4 indented servants (one of whom remained in the West Indies), "armours, swords, powder, "hail shott," pistol and goose shot, "one long fowling peece  of five foote and halfe in the barrell . . . two short gunns of four foote and an halfe," etc.  [see Brown, 581-2:  the Marmaduke left London in Sept. 1623 and arrived in Virginia c. late March 1624.]

4:  469:  Petition on 3/11/1624 to Sir Francis Wyatt and council from G.H. for loss of a servant.  Asks for compensation, because one of the four servants his brother sent to him in 1623 was not delivered & was indeed lost by the negligence of Capt. Dennis, who when he came by the West Indies granted permission to a Lt. Ben to have the help of one of G.H.'s servants in getting goods ashore, and the servant never returned to the ship.  Asks that the Company hold Capt. Dennis liable for G.H.'s loss.

4:  245, 248, 257, 269, 585:  Richard Stevens (Stephens)


John B. Boddie, Colonial Surry (Mountain View, Calif., 1959), 74, 88-9.  On RS:  (88):  to encourage building in Jamestown, in 1623 Richard Stephens received the first recorded patent to land in that place.  Only for "three score rods" issued "for his better convenience and that others may be more encouraged by his example to build and enclose some ground about their houses for gardening . . . situate and being about a convenient dwelling house which he has lately builded and erected in James City, on land which lies south upon the way along the great river, east upon land of Captain Ralph Hamor, west on land of John Jackson."

Accused 1:  

Capt. Richard Stevens

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

merchant

Town:


James City Co.

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:
Burgess from James City, 1623, and later a prominent member of the Council

Victim 1:  

Lt. George Harrison

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

planter, owned several indentured servants

Town:


Charles City Co.

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1624
July [EH] & [Oct] [EA]





CT

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM MANSL:  1 adult male & 1 adult female

Rela:    HHLD INDENTURED SERVANT by MASTER

Motive:  ABUSE

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  1 [EH] & [10] [EA]


HOM:  Mr. Proctor suspected of m. Elizabeth Abbott (a female servant) and Elyas Hintone (a male servant)


Weapon:  probable manslaughter of Elizabeth Abbott by whipping and of Elyas Hintone by beating with a rake


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  


Term?:  10/1624


Court proceedings:  
Source:  

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Minutes of the Council and General Court of Colonial Virginia, 1622-1632, 1670-1676, with Notes and Excerpts from Original Council and General Court Records, into 1683, Now Lost (Richmond, 1924), 22-24.


"Thomas Gates aged 40 (or theraboute) sworne and examined sayeth, that unto Elizabeth Abbott A maid servant of Mr Proctors, one whom ye saide maide called will did give 500 lashes wch this Examinate did counte, and thereupon he called to Mr Proctor beinge abroade A woorminge of plaints and said he were best to kill the maide, wherto he answered it were no matter yf shee were hangde, wch said wench after that beatinge ran Away into the woods by retourned againe and went away the second tyme and ther died, and about 14 dayes after this examinat seking for her found her aboute two stones cast of the houses within the forte.


John Burrows gent sworne and examined sayeth yt about 2 moneths last past beinge in his grounde there cam to him Elizabeth Abbott made servant to Mr Proctor, and this Examinate did aske her wt she made there, And she said yt she was so beaten that she could not tell wt to doe, & so shewd this Examinat diverse parts of her body wch he sayeth was grevous to behold, and yt this examinat sent woorde by Mr Proctors people that he were best send for A Surgeon to looke to her otherwyse she must needs parishe.


Nicholes Goldsmith servant to Mr Burrow sworne and Examined saieth yt he beinge in place wth his Mr did se when the said wench did shew his Mr how grevosley she had beene beaten and sayeth yt her fflesh in some places was raw and very black and blew and sayth yt she said she was whipt wth fishookes.


Alice Bennett sworne and Examined sayeth yt she did finde the said servant maide by the well, and this examinat asked her wt she made there, and the made answered that shee was so beaten that she durst not tarry at home, and this examinat serchinge of her fownd she had been sore beaten and her body full of sores and holes very dangerously raunckled and putrified both aboue her wast and uppon her hips and thighes and this examinate asked her who did soe beat her she said her misteris, And after that this examinat fownd her by the watersid by Mr Bourows Plantacion lyinge behind the boate wrapped in A ruuge, and fownde her body raw and Runinge wth sores from her wast upwards wherupon this examinat wth her husband & Ric: Richard Caryed her whom [home] and deliured her to her Mr entreatinge him to pardon her for that fault and not to Corect her but he said he would nott pardon her.


Richard Grove servant to Mr proctor sworne and Examined sayeth that ye said wench hath often tymes rann away and that shee was some tymes Corected for it, but that she neuer hadd aboue 20 or 30 lashes at atyme and yt wth smale lyne or whip corde that he knoweth of and that when Mr Richards and Thomas Bennett brought her home last shee receved no Corectione, but when they two and the wiefe of ye said Thomas Bennett brought her h[ome] last then she receved Corectione by Willia[m] Nayle servant to Mr Procter.


And touchinge Elyas Hintone servant to Mr Procte[r] this Examinat sayeth that about the midst of July las[t] ye said Elyas and this Examinate were goinge to John Smiths: but ye said Elias was not able to goe throw wth him and this Examinat retorninge asked him whether he wold goe home wth him wch he refused to do, then this Examinate said that he wold tye him there and cale some of his fellow[s] to fech him home whereupon wth much persuation he gott him home, and about some 3 or 4 dyes after he beinge Rakinge of weeds Mr Procter for som offenc did strike him wth a rake some 3 or 4 blows, wherupon said Elias went home and one Tho: Cross demanded of him how he did and he answered never worst for my Mr hath beaten me and I think he hath killed me and yf I dye I will take my death [because he] killed mee, but Ther was no signe of any bodily hurte as this exam could perceave, After that the same night ye said Elyas went away but was noe more seene till he was fownd dead.


Thomas Cross sworne and examined sayeth that his Mr sent him over the water, and beinge put in by a gust he went into Mr Procters house where Elyas was and he asked him how hee did, who answered he was not very well his Mr had so beaten him that he should hardly recover it.


Phetiplace Close sworne and Examined sayeth that the said wench hath divers tyme been Corected, but never ymmoderately to his knowledge, and demanding of her privatlee wt cause she had to run away she would make noe answer therunto.


Mr Anthony Barram sworne and Examined sayeth that he once saw Mr Procter give Elyais a box one the eare and at another tyme beinge in the ground at woorke he did se Mr Procter faule upon some body but knew nott whom, but at night demanding of one of the boyes who it was he said it was Elyas.  and the next morninge Elias was gone, and further sayeth that the saide Elyas was a very stubborne and desperat fellowe and would oftimes say he wold shoote himselfe wth a pistoll when he was in health, whereuppon his pistoll was taken from him


And Concerninge the wench he sayeth yt he hath harde her many tymes beaten and hard her crye, but never saw the manor of her Corectione, norher bodie after she was Corected, but sayeth shee was a very lewd wench & such a one as noe good perswations nor moderate corection could reclame her, and thinketh yt by her lyinge in the woods some tymes 8 or 10 days together, was the occasione of her death.


Daniel Watkins sworne and Examined sayeth yt he never saw ye said wench Corected nor did ever see her bodie but knoweth yt she had divers tymes run Awaye & hath layne in the woods some tymes 8 or 10 dyes together and whether she was pardoned or corected she woold run away againe.


Ann Wood sworne and examined sayeth yt she did see about 2 moneths ago 2 boys whip the said wench, the one named Will the other John Skinner each of them havinge a whip of smale corde and caused her body to bleed downe to her waste and further sayeth yt Mrs Procter once Called her to looke upon the wenches thighs, wch she sayeth had one great sore but how it should come shee knoweth nott  And forther sayeth yt in respect ye wench had Complayned that she had been grevously beaten wth fishhooks therfore Mrs Procter requested this Examinatge to Come and vew the bodie of her, wch she did and fownd one great sore in her thigh wch this Examinat rather thinketh to come by lyeinge owt in the woodes then by any Corectiones.


William Bullock sworne and Examined sayeth yt he was in the ground at woorke where he saw Mr Procter beate Elyas wth a Rake and gave him some 12 or 16 blowes but wt hurt he had this Examinat doth not knowe.  And after Cominge into Mr Procters howse he harde Mr Smiths man aske the said Elias how he did, and he said he as very ill and yt his Mr had so beaten him yt he shuld dye, and yt he wold laye his death to his Mr if he did die.


John Skynner aged 16 years servant to Mr Procter beinge Examined sayeth that once himself and Mr Procters boy Will did whip the said wench their Mr standing by at wch tyme he sayeth that both gave her about 100 stripes untill she did bleede.


Mr. Thomas Bunn Chirugione sworne and Examined sayeth that Mr Procter sent for him to Come over and to see A sore yt the wench had in her foote & wch he did, and left thinkgs for to dress it wth.  and further sayeth that Mr Procter many tymes sent for this examm. to Com over to looke to his servants whyen anyof them were sick and deseased, And that Mr Procter was always very Carfull for thye preservinge of his servants healths, and yt he hath had 3 or 4 of his servants at tymes 4 or 5 dyes togeather and at this present hath one of his men at his howse in Cure


Will Nayle Mr Procters boy aged 16 years Examined sayeth that he hath whipt the said wench some six tymes by the Appountment of his Mr and once he thinketh he gave her about 200 stripes and some tymes less.  but yt his Mr did never appoynt him how many strokes he should give her and yt one tyme his Mr bidd him should whip her from the waist to the hand wrists& fleay her or ells his Mr wold flay him."

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Mr. Proctor, (HRMcI, 12, 119, 78)

3/9/1624 s. (12):  dispute is resolved over Richard Grove (age 28), who had been bound to Mr. Proctor but who Mr. Horne claimed once RG had gone aboard a ship for Virginia.

12/5/1625 s. (78):  Mr. Proctor to pay Mr Perry 50 lbs of tobacco in recompense for Mr. Perry's shallopp "wch was splitt by Mr Procters meanes"

10/12/1626 s. (119):  "Fetiplace Close sworne and examined faith, that concerning the usage of Thomas & Enica fitch servants to Mr. Proctor, he knoweth certainly upon his own knowledge that they were as well used in all respects for victualls clothes, phisick & chirurgery & what was necessary for servants as any i the land, & further sayth that he lived in the house, & saw their usage himself."


Mrs. Alice Proctor, (HRMcI, 54, 62, 150)


Mr. John Proctor, (HRMcI, 150)

4/19/1625 s. (54):  "Whereas Robert Adams and Mrs Alice Procter have bene accused by Edward Smith for the Killinge of A hogg of George Graves, for two yeers and a halfe agoe, And whereas there is not Evidence brought in but only the said Edward Smith, who hath been fowned in divers Contrary tales, And by many stronge presumptions is Conceaved to have Done it in malice as also for yt the said Mr Addams hath heretofore had his tryall and the law past uppon him for Killing of Certen hogs about the same tyme and it no way appeeringe to be any other but those for wch he receaved his Censure


The jujgment of the Courte is yt the said Mr Adams and Mrs Proctor be accquitted for ever of and from ye accusations of ye said Edward Smith formerly specyfied, And yt the said Edward Smtih shalbe whipped, and receave thirty stripes for his offence."

5/23/1625 s. (62):  Mrs. Procter & many others testify at the hearing on Capt. Martin, who refused to obey a summons from the Governor and Council to appear to answer certain charges, of which Capt. Martin believed himself innocent.

7/3/1627 s. (150):  Mrs. Alice Procter brought in an inventory of the goods of her husband John Procter, deceased, & swore it was a true inventory, and asked that a letter of administration be given her, which was "accordingly granted."

Accused 1:  

Mr. Proctor

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

planter

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Elizabeth Abbott

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

servant of Mr. Proctor

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 2:  

Elyas Hintone

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

servant of Mr. Proctor

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1629, Jan. 1






CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM ADULT by CHILD

Motive:  QUARREL over request to borrow a knife / HONOR

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:

New Year's Day

Time of day:
between 2pm & 3pm

Days to death:  0


HOM:  William Reade (13 or 14 yrs old) m. John Burrowe


Weapon:  knife wound to belly.  d. 1 hr.


Circumstances:  John Gay, a servant, was mending a pint pot.  The victim, John Burrow, was helping JG shape a piece of lead to mend the pot.  JG asked to borrow WR's knife.  WR refused, so JG (according to WR) seized the knife.  JB called WR a "rogue" for refusing to lend the knife & WR called JR a "thief."  JB threw down his knife & hit WR in the chest with his fist -- WR picked up JB's knife.  WR may have stabbed JB [according to JG] or JB may have run upon the knife when he came at WR [according to WR].  At house of Benjamin Jackson [guess it was home of victim & accused]


Inquest:  


ndictment?  mansl


Term?:  1/1629


Court proceedings:  fG of mansl.  Pled benefit of clergy.

Source:  
H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Minutes of the Council and General Court of Colonial Virginia, 1622-1632, 1670-1676, with Notes and Excerpts from Original Council and General Court Records, into 1683, Now Lost (Richmond, 1924), 183-4.


Jan. 24, 1628/9 session:  Inquest before Dr. Pott, 1/6/1729:  

"John Gay aged about 22 yeares servant to Benjamin Jackson sworne and examined sayth that on Newyeares day last past about two or three of the Clock in the afternoon this examiate being mending of a pinte potte that was melted William Reade and John Burrowes came forth of this examiates masters howse and sat down by him, and John Burrowes took upp a little peece of leade that lay by this exmaiate and begun to make it fitt for this examiates worke that he was about and uppon a sudden William Reade said unto John Burrowes oh, you theefe  Whereuppon Burrowes letting fall his knife uppon the ground said have I stole any thing from thee and wthall strooke Reade uppon the brest wth his fist then presently Reade stooping downe tooke upp the knife and therewth stabbed Burrowes into the belly below the Navell, and about an hower after this, Burrowes dyed.


William Reade aged as he saith about 13 or 14 yeares being examined sayth that on New Yeares daie last about 2 or three of the Clocke in the afternoone he the examite and John Burrowes sitting together by John Gay as hee was mending a pint pott asked this exte to lend him his knife, and this exaite said hee would not lende it him, then John Gay tooke this exaiats knife from him by force and presently John Burrowes said to this exte you arrant Rogue woo't not lend thy knife to him whereuppon this ext said to Burrowes what you theefe, the Burrowes threw down his knife betwixt his leggs, and strooke this ext uppon the brest wth his fist, then this exaiate tooke upp the knife and holding it in his hand Burrowes came in uppon this examiate and ran his belly [upon] the knife.


Hereuppon the said Reade was indited by the [name of] William Reade late of Plunt poynt wthin the Kingdome of Virginia labourer for that [on the] first daie of January in the fourth [yeare of the] raigne of our soveraigne Lord [by the] grace of god of England Scotland [France] & Ireland King Defendor of the faith &c [betweene] the howers of 2 and 3 in the afternoone of the same day by force and armes, that is to say wth a Certaine Knife price two pence uppon one John Burrowes at the house of one Benjamin Jackson of Blunt Poynt aforesaid in the peace of our soveraigne Lord the King beeing made an assault and [an] affray, and the said John Burrowes then and there wth said knife felloniously did thrust & stabb into the belly giveing him the said John Burrowes a mortall wound of wch said wound the said John Burrowes wthin an hower after dyed  And soe the [said] William Reade the said John Burrows in manner and foreme aforesaid felloniously did kill against the peace of our soveraigne Lord the King his Crowne and dignity.

[Put on trial before a jury; list of jurors here]

Wch Jury being impaneled and sworne to inquire of the said Indictmt delyvered upp there verdict, that the said Reade was guilty of Manslaughter whoe being asked what hee had to say for himselfe that he ought not to dy demanded his Clergy whereuppon hee was delyvered to the ordinary, &c."

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:

William Reade  (HRMcI, no other entry)


John Burrowes  (HRMcI, no other entry)

Accused 1:  

William Reade

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


13 or 14 years old

Literate:




Marital Status:  
s

Children:

n

Occupation:

indentured servant

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

John Burrowe

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1629, Feb. 8



  

Merry Point

CT


CHECK:  the reference in Scott to the governor of 1628/9 pardoning a convicted murderer and restoring his estate.  A probable reference to WB, but could have been to a different murder that I have not yet found.  Check the date.

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM MANSL:  1 adult male

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  QUARREL / HONOR

Intox?:  yes, victim, but probably not the assailant

Day of week:


Holiday?:

no

Time of day:
11pm

Days to death:  0


HOM:  William Bently m. Thomas Godby


Weapon:  kick to side.  Found dead the next morning.


Circumstances:  at house of William Parker.  Victim had drunk four cups of wine.  WB had run aground nearby and had cried for help, but no one from the house had come to help him.  When WB complained, TG said "doe you thinke wee have nothing to doe but to fetch you out of the water."  TG's words led to confrontation.


Inquest:  


Indictment?  


Term?:  3/1629


Court proceedings:  fG of MANSL.  pled benefit of clergy.

Source:  
H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Minutes of the Council and General Court of Colonial Virginia, 1622-1632, 1670-1676, with Notes and Excerpts from Original Council and General Court Records, into 1683, Now Lost (Richmond, 1924), 190-2.


March 1628/9 session:


"Richard Peck aged 25 yeares or thereabouts sworne and examied sayth that uppon the eight daie of February last past Thomas Godby being at the Howse of Wm Parker at Merry Poynt, this depont and dyvers others being then there in Company wth him, after supper they dranke out betweene them a bottle of burnt clarett wine conteyning five pints or thereabouts, and the said Godby dranke for his share thereof about some fower cupps at wch tyme Mr Conges boate running agrounde on the sholes against the said howse William Bently being in her came into the howse and asked if that were their orders to heare men call and not come to helpe them out of the water whereunto Godby answered, doe you thinke wee have nothing to doe but to fetch you out of the water.  To wch Bently replyed hold our peace noebody speaketh to you after wch many jesting wordes passed betweene the said Bently and Godby, amongst wch Godby gave Bently many provoking wordes, and after that Bently said to Godby shall we toss some balls whereuppon Godby said if you tosse balls to mee I will tosse the Cup in yor face and not long after (many words having first past betwixt them) Godby called Bently rogue or rascall or both and Bently did the like to him, and thereuppon presently the said Bently sitting uppon the forme on the left side of Godby strooke him of from the said forme and presently rose upp and gave him a kick as hee lay uppon the Ground.  Then the Company there present tooke upp the said Godby and sett him on a chair and then Godby complayned saying Oh my side after wch hee walked two or three tournes crosse the howse, and then William Parker led him toward his exaiamts howse and by the way having occasion to unloose a poynt hee could not sitt but tumbled downe Crying out, oh Bently thou hast killed mee and repeated the same words very often, and also said of himselfe I am Cruelly foxed [The word seems to mean here stupified or dazed] and repeated the same likewise very often  After wch the said Parker this deponent and some others Carryed him backe to Parkers howse And in the morning Godby was founde dead in the said howse and this is all this dept can saie.


William Parker aged 22 yeares or thereabouts sworne and exaied sayth that uppon the eight daie of February last past, one Thomas Godby at Elizabeth City being at his exaiamts howse wth some six others in Company after they had supped they had a bottle of burnt Clarett wine conteyning about five pints, and the said Thomas Godby dranke about fower Cupps of the same And this exaiamte sayth hee was a little light headed wth drinke and after about eleven of Clocke at night William Bently Came to this exaiamts house alsoe in a boate, and when hee was Come into the howse he asked, why would none of the howse light us upp, and then Thomas Godby answered was any body bound to bring you light to fetch you of from the water then William Bently replyed noe body speaketh to you then all sitting by the fire they began to jest one wth another, And Bently called Godby Cuckold  To wch hee said I were as good bee a Cuckold as a Cuckold maker and Called Bently Rogue or knave, whereuppon Bently sittinguppon a forme on the left hand of Godby stroke the said Godby wth his right hand (as this exaiamte taketh it) an felled him from the forme, and then presently Bently rose and kicked Godby and then the Company there parted them and tooke Bently from him and then Godby got upp and gott uppon a Chest and Cryed out o my belly and my side whereuppon this exaiamt advised the said Godby to goe to the next howse to sleepe, and thereuppon the said Godby went out wth this dept . . . and there this dept left himn and Retorned [to his] owne howse, and wthin a grtr of an hower after [the ] said Godby was brought backe againe to this depts howse and there was laide uppon a bed, and Cryed out o Mr Bently you have killed mee repeating the same divers tymes, and saying Lord have mercy uppon us Lord Jesus receave my soule after wch hee lay very quiett and this dept thinking him to bee a sleep left him and in the morning hee was found dead.


Hereuppon said Bently was indited by the name of William Bently late of Grangers Poynte Taylor for that hee the eight daie of February in the fourth yeare of the reigne of our soveraigne Lord Charles by the grace of god of England Scotland France and Ireland king defendor of the faith &c at the howse of one William Parker Sciuate at the plantacion Called Merry Poynt by force and arms uppon one Thomas Godby late of Elisabeth Citty planter at the said howse in the peace of our soveraigne Lord the King then being made an assaulte and affray, and the said Thomas Godby then and there wth his left hand, uppon the left eare felloniously did strike, and the said Thomas Body then and there likewise felloniouslhy wth his foot did kicke of wch strock and kicking the said Thomas Godby the ninth daie of february in the yeare aforesaid in the morning dyed, and soe the said William Bently the said Thomas Godby the said nynth daie of february in the yeare aforesaid felloniously did kill against the peace of our said soveraigne Lord the King his Crowne and Dignity.

[pNG, jury empanneled, jurors listed]

fG of MANSL.  "And hee being asked what hee had to say for himselfe that hee ought not to dye demaunded his Clergie whereuppon hee was dd to the Ordinary &c."

[NOTE:  the indictment sometimes confused Bently & Godby.]

Scott, Criminal Law in Colonial Virginia, 109; & see VMH, 7:  368, 382; 7:  35; & Hen., I:  144-5.  PROBABLE REFERENCE to this case, but should check further.

Dr. Pott, governor of Va in 1628/9.  It was asserted that he had pardoned a man convicted of murder by a jury & had compounded for the restoration of his forfeited estate.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Thomas Godby (HRMcI, 78, 147, 188)


12/5/1625 s. (78):  summoned, together with other men, to appear against Mr. Westone, the owner of a pinnace, about Westone's refusal or failure to deliver their shares of a shipment of goods.


4/3/1627 s. (147):  George Keith, a minister, sold TG 100 acres of land (the "divident of the said George Keth & lyeing & abutting next unto ye Gleab-loand at Elizabeth City") for 200 pounds of tobacco to be paid by the end of next October.  GK made the promise "at his goeing downe to Kecaughtan"


3/3/1629 s. (188):  Commission of administration on the estate of TG was granted to Bartholomew Wethersby.

William Bently (HRMcI, 81)


12/19/1625 s. (81):  summoned to testify in a suit between 
Mr. Allington & Mr. Flinton.

Accused 1:  

William Bentley

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

tailor

Town:


Grangers Point

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Thomas Godby

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w
Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

planter

Town:


Elizabeth City

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



[1630]






GOVT


CHECK both cases:  p. 135:  JH also accused his predecessor as governor, George Yeardley, of "pardoninge wilfull Murther."  What are the sources for these cases?  NCH implies that the sentencing of the servant occurred soon after Harvey's arrival.
Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    HHLD MASTER by SERVANT

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  NCH:  Governor John Harvey (who arrived in Virginia with his commission from King Charles in March 1630) "sentenced a servant to be drawn and hanged for 'petit treason.'"


Inquest:  


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  
Source:  

Hale, Nathaniel C. (1951) Virginia Venturer: A Historical Biography of William Claiborne, 1600-1677. Richmond: The Dietz Press, 135-6.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

[m]

Age:


adult

Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

servant

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

[poss planter]

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Suspect(s











